IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,)
Complainant,))
V.)
PATRICIA DEL PINO,)
Respondent,)

CASE NO. SC05-734

TFB No. 2005-71,194(11K)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway, Suite B-2 Tallahassee, Florida 32309 (850) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

<u>CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE AND</u> <u>ANTI-VIRUS SCAN</u>

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Complainant, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as such or as the Bar. Respondent, PATRICIA DEL PINO, will be referred to as Respondent or Ms. del Pino.

References to the transcript of the final hearing will be by the symbol "TR." followed by the appropriate page number. References to the Report of Referee will be by the symbol "RR." followed by the appropriate page number. All of the Bar's and Respondent's exhibits were designated by number and shall be referred to as such.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 15, of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

These proceedings commenced on May 12, 2005 when The Florida Bar filed its complaint charging Respondent with misconduct as a result of her two felony convictions in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida. The Honorable Daryl E. Trawick was appointed Referee on May 17, 2005. Final hearing took place on October 19, 2005. The Referee's report was issued on November 29, 2005. The Referee recommended that Ms. del Pino be disbarred. The Bar's complaint was predicated on the same charges that led to Ms. del Pino's felony conviction suspension on March 22, 2005. That suspension was effective April 22, 2005.

Respondent, Patricia del Pino, was convicted after pleading guilty in federal court to two felonies, tax evasion and mail fraud. She was sentenced to three years probation including ten months house arrest, payment of her tax liabilities to the extent that she was able to do so, 100 hours community service and mental health therapy. The sentencing judge, District Judge Alan S. Gold, rejected the prosecutors' demands that Ms. del Pino be incarcerated for five months followed by five months house arrest. Judge Gold could have sentenced Ms. del Pino to five years incarceration and imposed a \$250.000 fine.

Ms. del Pino's conviction for tax evasion was the result of her filing an automatic extension of time to file her 1998 tax return on April 15, 1999. She indicated on the form that her taxable liability was zero when, in fact, as determined years later, it should have been \$38,000. Ms. del Pino admitted not filing tax returns until 2001 for tax years 1996, 1997, 1998 and 1999.

Ms. del Pino's mail fraud charge was brought against her several months after she plead guilty to the tax evasion charge. It was a result of her failing to stop a fraudulent real estate transaction involving Michael Arias, her estranged husband, now a convicted felon and a fugitive from justice, for a condominium in

- 2 -

Aventura on October 4, 2001. The closing on that transaction, supposedly conveying property from Mr. Arias to Liana Alvarez, was a sham because, in truth and fact, Mr. Arias was the purchaser.

Ms. del Pino's participation in the transaction was clarified on the Warranty Deed. Specifically, it stated that "Patricia del Pino is signing the Deed only for waiver of homestead rights and is not a grantor in this transaction." Resp. Ex. 1.

There was an issue before the Referee about whether Ms. del Pino was going to live in the condominium and, therefore, was a beneficiary of the transaction. In the proffer to her plea agreement, Bar Ex. 7, there was language to the effect that the condominium would be used by Ms. del Pino and her husband as their personal residence. That language was clarified without objection at the plea colloquy before Judge Gold on August 25, 2004 by Ms. del Pino's defense lawyer. Resp. Ex. 2, p. 16. Counsel pointed out that the condominium was not to remain under Ms. del Pino's control, that she and Mr. Arias were not living together at the time, and that the condominium was to be the residence of Mr. Arias and his girlfriend. Ms. del Pino testified in like manner at final hearing. Tr. 98, 148, 150, 151.

Ms. del Pino received a downward departure on her sentence because of her substantial assistance to the U.S. Attorney's Office in investigating her husband's role in the mail fraud, for immediately informing Mr. Arias' probation officer when he became a fugitive and for cooperating with the government in their attempts to locate him. Tr. 90, 91.

Ms. del Pino had four character witnesses testify in person on her behalf at the hearing before the Referee below. As additional testimony, she presented letters from five individuals that had been submitted at her sentencing. Resp. Comp. Ex. 11. She also submitted into evidence the following medical reports and records: Resp. Ex. 3, the December 17, 2001 report from Lazaro Garcia, Ph.D., which, in essence, determined her to be a battered spouse; Resp. Ex. 4, medical records showing Mr. Arias' physical abuse of Respondent, including graphic pictures; Resp. Ex. 5, a December 5, 1997 letter from Cindy Mitch, M.D., diagnosing Respondent with severe fatigue, probably secondary to chronic fatigue syndrome; Resp. Ex. 6, a November 5, 1997 letter from Kenneth Ratzan, M.D., discounting three past diagnoses that she had infectious mono and diagnosing Respondent with chronic fatigue syndrome; Resp. Ex. 7, January 1998 medical records from Juan B. Espinosa, M.D., diagnosing severe depression; Resp. Ex. 8, a December 13, 2001 report from Ricardo Castillo, M.D., diagnosing Ms. del Pino with chronic fatigue syndrome, dependent personality disorder, chronicity of condition, marital substance abuse problems, etc.; and Resp. Ex. 9, the December 10, 2001 report from Carolina Montoya, Psy.D., summarizing Ms. del Pino's past psychological treatment.

Respondent's character witnesses' testimony described Ms. del Pino's life before and after she met Mr. Arias. The first witness to testify was Ana Cordero, a practicing lawyer who first met Ms. del Pino shortly before both began attending Georgetown Law School in 1986. The two are very close, e.g., Ms. del Pino was maid of honor at Ms. Cordero's wedding. TR. 34. Ms. Cordero represented Ms. del Pino during her "on-off, on-off" dissolution of marriage proceedings. Ms. Cordero testified that Ms. del Pino became "a different person" after she married Mr. Arias. By the end of the year 2000, Ms. del Pino and Mr. Arias had separated at least six times. She was always "devastated, crying". TR. 37. Ms. Cordero noted that Ms. del Pino had always succeeded and when her marriage failed "she didn't want to admit it"

Ms. Cordero testified that Ms. del Pino's mental health was definitely adversely affected by her marriage to Mr. Arias. Now that he is out of her life, she is returning to the individual that she used to be. TR. 41, 42.

Joseph Klock, the managing partner of Steel, Hector & Davis when Ms. del Pino was a lawyer there testified about Ms. del Pino's career in his firm. He testified that she first began working as a legal secretary for the firm after her freshman year of law school. She was then given an internship the next year and after she graduated from law school was the first pick for new lawyers in the firm. She became a partner in the firm as a result of a unanimous decision from the selection committee. TR. 47, 48. Mr. Klock observed that Ms. del Pino "worked harder" than most of the associates that the firm had, that her "ethics were without question . . ." and that she "had very good judgment" She was sort of a "den mother" for all of the staff, including non-lawyers. TR. 50.

Mr. Klock noted the change in Ms. del Pino when she started seeing Mr. Arias, an individual described by Mr. Klock as a "me Tarzan, you Jane" personality. Mr. Klock noticed about six months before she married "that she was getting to be sort of broken down." TR. 51. She subsequently started coming to the office with sunglasses on to hide the fact that "this guy was rough with her. He manhandled her." After observing that Ms. del Pino was a very loyal person from a tightly-knit family, Mr. Klock opined that it was "hard for her to recognize the fact that this guy was a creep that she never should have married" TR. 52. He observed that ultimately she went part-time as a result of the "difficult time she was having with Mr. Arias." TR. 53.

Mr. Klock observed that Ms. del Pino went from someone who was very organized with her finances, her work and her life in general (TR. 53), in other words, "someone who had complete control over her life . . ," to basically an uncontrolled life. "She had no control, basically, of what was going on at home." TR. 54. He testified that he would have no reservation about bringing her back into the firm once she was eligible to practice law again. TR. 59.

Karen Castillo corroborated Mr. Klock's testimony. Ms. Castillo has been a paralegal at the firm for 25 years and has known Ms. del Pino since the latter began work as a secretary at the firm. TR. 60, 61. They became fast friends and traveled together, frequently with Ms. Castillo's young daughter. TR. 63, 64.

Ms. Castillo pointed out that Ms. del Pino was very popular at the office. She helped housekeepers, secretaries and runners employed by the firm. TR. 65.

As was true with Mr. Klock, Ms. Castillo saw changes in Ms. del Pino prior to her marriage. TR. 66. Mr. Arias' controlling nature, including calling the office incessantly, interfered with her work and resulted in their having to work until 10:00 or 11:00 at night instead of 7:00 or 8:00 because of his interruptions. TR. 67, 68. Ms. Castillo could not understand how a "strong, powerful-minded woman who was so brilliant" let her beautiful mind fall by the wayside. TR. 69.

Ms. Castillo also testified about the beating that Michael gave Ms. del Pino in Christmas 1997. The episode, memorialized by Respondent's Exhibit 4, left Ms. del Pino in bed several days before she finally went to the hospital. While Ms. Castillo tried to convince Ms. del Pino that she was a victim of domestic abuse, she took him back into the house anyway. TR. 70-72. Ultimately, Ms. del Pino stopped communicating with her friends (TR. 70, 74) and started taking Xanax. She even took Xanax after arguments with Mr. Arias on the phone while at work just to be able to stop crying and focus on her job. It finally got to the point where she would take four or five Xanax pills and just go to sleep. TR. 75, 76.

Ms. Castillo testified that Ms. del Pino is back to being a functioning member of society, whereas before "she was a dropout of society". TR. 77.

As her last character witness, Respondent called Cathy Hamilton, a dentist in Miami licensed since 1991. Dr. Hamilton and Ms. del Pino are so close that Ms. del Pino was present at the birth of Ms. Hamilton's child.

Dr. Hamilton testified about the controlling nature of Mr. Arias. She told the Referee that prior to Ms. del Pino's marriage, Dr. Hamilton could always reach her either on Ms. del Pino's cell phone or on the office phone. After their marriage, Mr. Arias convinced his bride that she didn't need a cell phone and having her own car was a waste of money. She gave up both. TR. 81, 82.

Dr. Hamilton testified about Ms. del Pino's use of Xanax. Ms. del Pino was "always depressed" or tried to escape reality by working. At times Ms. del Pino was sleeping so much that Dr. Hamilton could not reach her. TR. 83. Ultimately, Ms. del Pino began overusing Xanax, resulting in her giving up on things that were basic in her life and letting go of things that were once important but that did not seem to be important anymore. TR. 84. On one occasion Dr. Hamilton, who could prescribe Xanax, gave Ms. del Pino a prescription for ten Xanax pills. In December 2000, Dr. Hamilton refused to give Ms. del Pino any more Xanax resulting in a fallout between the two. Dr. Hamilton testified that she would give no more Xanax to her friend because Ms. del Pino needed help, and escape was not the help she needed. TR. 85, 86.

Ms. del Pino was the last witness to testify at the final hearing. She was admitted to The Florida Bar in January 1990, and until she was suspended as a result of her felony conviction on April 22, 2005, she had never been disciplined. TR. 88. She acknowledged pleading guilty to tax evasion and mail fraud and that she was sentenced to three years probation, which included the ten months of house arrest, 200 community service hours, and payment to the IRS of her tax liability in accordance with her ability to pay it. She was facing a maximum sentence of five years and a \$250,000 fine. She received a downward departure for cooperating with the government in its investigation against Mr. Arias, and for helping them look for Mr. Arias after he became a fugitive. TR. 90. She is the one who reported his flight to the authorities after he learned that he was going to be charged with wrongdoing as a result of the Aventura closing (the same transaction on which Ms. del Pino was convicted). TR. 91.

Ms. del Pino admitted to the Referee that she wrongfully estimated her tax liability at zero on April 15, 1999 when she filed for an automatic extension for her 1998 tax return. Ultimately, it was determined that her tax liability was \$38,000 for that year. She did not file her tax return for 1998, or for 1996, 1997 and 1999, until December 2001. TR. 93.

Respondent also described to the Referee her role in the Aventura closing on October 4, 2001. She acknowledged attending and participating in the transaction, even though she knew that Liana Alvarez, the person who was supposedly buying the property, was not going to be the real owner of the property. Rather, Mr. Arias was going to be the actual owner. TR. 95, 96. The Aventura closing was the result of Mr. Arias' signing an option to purchase the condo for \$600,000 when he and Ms. del Pino separated in August 2000. By October 2001, the condominium was worth approximately \$1,200,000. Because Mr. Arias had been indicted for Medicare fraud in Pennsylvania in March, 2001, he could not obtain financing. Rather than losing the benefit of the bargain, Mr. Arias arranged for one of his employees to obtain financing to qualify for the loan. TR. 95-98.

Mr. Arias needed Ms. del Pino at the closing to waive any possible homestead rights. While Ms. del Pino prepared no documents for the closing, she did insist that the Warranty Deed contain the following statement: "Patricia del Pino is signing the deed only for waiver of homestead rights and is not a grantor in this transaction." TR. 99, Resp. Ex. 1.

While she acknowledged failing to stop a fraudulent transaction that was taking place, Ms. del Pino denied any intention to live in the property. She

testified that she would not "even walk into that property." TR. 98. On crossexamination, she testified that she knew that Ms. Alvarez did not have the financial sources to pay the property, TR. 149. Ms. del Pino repeated that it was never her intent to benefit from the transaction. TR. 148, 150. It was always understood that Mr. Arias was to live at the condo with his girlfriend and not with Ms. del Pino. TR. 151.

Ms. del Pino learned in October 2001 that she, rather than her husband, had become the subject of a criminal investigation when her payroll records were subpoenaed from the Steel, Hector firm. Almost three years later, in April 2004, she pled guilty to tax fraud. About two months after the plea she learned that she was the subject of a mail fraud investigation resulting from the Aventura October 4, 2001 closing. About one month before her sentencing, she pled to that offense also.

Ms. del Pino had no criminal or Bar disciplinary record before April 2004. Her legal career with Steel, Hector began the summer after her first year at Georgetown University Law Center when she went to work for Steel, Hector as a legal secretary during the summer of 1987. The next summer, she was a "summer associate" at the firm and she was asked to come back as a permanent associate in 1989. She began full-time work in October 1989 and was admitted to the Bar in January 1990. She became a partner in January 1996, days after wedding on December 30, 1995. TR. 102, 105, 106.

Just two years later, in January 1998, Ms. del Pino began working for the firm on a part-time basis. In January 2000 she left the firm's employ. She stayed on the premises as a sub-lessee working for one particular client until May 2000. TR. 107. She testified that she left the firm partially because of pressure from her husband, and partially because her productivity had "drastically come down after I made partnership and after I got married to my husband." TR. 107, 108.

Ms. del Pino testified that she had always wanted to be a lawyer and that she loved her job. She had never had fewer than 2000 billable hours and she believed that she had worked about 2700 billable hours one year. TR. 108. Immediately after her marriage in December 1995, her billable hours started going down. Basically, she "couldn't cope with a lot of what was doing on in my life..." during that timeframe. She testified that she was sick, was on Xanax, and that her life "was a total mess". While her hours were down, her personal problems did not adversely affect her clients' matters because focusing on work was a way of avoiding the problems she was having at home. TR. 109. Her problems with Mr. Arias were not the only problems that Ms. del Pino was suffering from. In 1994, she started complaining about fatigue and was diagnosed with mono. After several instances of similar diagnoses Dr. Mitch, her family physician, sent her to experts in December 1997 who diagnosed her with chronic fatigue syndrome. TR. 113.

Mr. Arias, who operated a clinic and who had physicians on his staff, started supplying Ms. del Pino with Xanax shortly after they were married. TR. 124. She was having difficulty accepting that the "perfect world that I thought I was going to be living in" was crumbling. TR. 120. She started abusing Xanax in 1996 and probably continued to abuse it through 2001. TR. 121.

In late 1997, Ms. del Pino was diagnosed with severe depression, resulting in her request to work part-time at the firm. TR. 121, 122.

Ms. del Pino testified at length about her marriage to Mr. Arias. She almost cancelled the wedding during her engagement but did not do so because her "personality was to make everything in my life work". TR. 114. They had severe arguments on the Halloween before their wedding, TR. 115, during their honeymoon in December 1995 and January 1996, TR. 116, and throughout the rest of their marriage. As the marriage went on, the arguments got progressively worse. TR. 117. Mr. Arias convinced her that she did not need a cell phone because she was always going to be with him. He would call her non-stop at work and would abuse her before her co-workers and clients. TR. 117, 118. In December 1997, during a Christmas trip to New York City, Mr. Arias, a six-foot, 2-inch, 230 to 240-lb. individual, beat her up. TR. 122, 124. After the incident, he

returned to Miami but Ms. del Pino stayed in their New York hotel room for three days, sleeping and talking to her friends. Finally, the pain from the beating forced her to go to St. Luke's Hospital in New York City. TR. 124; Resp. Ex. 4.

Mr. Arias has an extensive criminal history. He was convicted of DUI, pled one DUI charge down to Reckless, was indicted in Florida for Medicaid fraud and then was indicted in Pennsylvania for Medicaid fraud. In March 2001, he violated his bond due to cocaine use. TR. 125-127. He is currently indicted for mail fraud relating to the Aventura property, but, because he is a fugitive, that charge is pending.

Ms. del Pino testified that the lowest point in her life began in December 1995 and extended through August 2000, when she and Mr. Arias separated for an extended period of time. That August 2000 separation resulted in her going to bed for three or four months. TR. 128-130. But, when Mr. Arias was arrested in March 2001, after not having communicated with Ms. del Pino since August 2000, he called to ask for her help.

When Mr. Arias got out of jail in April 2004, she allowed him to move back into her life until he fled in July 2004 after learning of his indictment. TR. 139, 140.

Not surprisingly, Ms. del Pino was diagnosed with various illnesses as a result of the 1996 through 2000 events in her life. Dr. Lazaro Garcia diagnosed her

in December 2001 with anxiety disorder, dependent disorder and other illnesses (Resp. Ex. 3). Dr. Castillo diagnosed her with chronic fatigue syndrome among other problems (Resp. Ex. 7). She ceased the use of Xanax in 2000 and has been on and off Prozac since 1998.

Ms. del Pino testified that she put down zero on her request for an extension on April 15, 1999 because her personal life and work life were crumbling as a result of problems with her husband. TR. 141. She would try to do things just to get through the day. While she regretted it, she acknowledged to the Referee that on April 15, 1999, taxes were not her priority. "I just wanted to get an extension in, to make sure that I got it in." She acknowledged that by estimating zero, she did the wrong thing, and she did not try to justify it. She tried to explain, however, that the extension was not an important part of her life at that point in time. TR. 141, 142.

In fact, Ms. del Pino was not paying attention to her personal life at all. Her driver's license was suspended for two years, her car registration was suspended, and her electricity and phone service kept getting cut off because she did not pay her bills. Her secretary actually organized her tax matters, but the task was "so overwhelming for me at the time" that she could not deal with her personal problems and she failed to do so. TR. 142, 143.

She testified that she had money to pay her bills, "that wasn't the point." For example, she could have paid her phone bill. She simply was not paying attention to anything in her personal life. TR. 155.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ms. del Pino asks this Court to reject the Referee's recommendation that she be disbarred and to substitute therefor a two-year suspension effective *nunc pro tunc* April 22, 2005. In essence, Ms. del Pino asks this Court to reject the Referee's recommendation because (1) he improperly found that her participation in the Aventura condominium closing was for her personal gain, which the Referee found as a substantially aggravating factor, and (2) the Referee did not give proper weight to the mitigation in the case and to analogous disciplinary cases.

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