IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		Supreme Court Case No. SC05-734
Complainant,		
V.		The Florida Bar File No. 2005-71,194(11K)
PATRICIA DEL PINO,		
Respondent.	/	
ON PE	FITION FOR	REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel - TFB #360929 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel - TFB #253847 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director - TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the case at bar the attorney pled guilty to tax evasion and mail fraud and argued that personal problems warranted a sanction less than disbarment. The referee ruled that the presumption of disbarment was not overcome. The referee did, however, find that the mitigation evidence warranted allowing the disbarment recommendation to run *nunc pro tunc* from the date of respondent's felony suspension. In light of the referee's concession, the respondent has failed to establish that the referee did not consider that evidence. Moreover, the referee ruled that the aggravating circumstances including multiple offenses, dishonest and selfish motive and experience in the practice of law combined with the underlying felony convictions were not outweighed by any evidence of mitigation.

Respondent also argues that the referee erroneously found that Ms. del Pino would reside in the property which was at the core of the mail fraud charge. The referee's finding was based on competent substantial evidence consisting mainly of the respondent's written guilty plea. Moreover, this finding was not material to the offense and did not impact on the elements of the crime. Further, to so argue constitutes impermissibly "going behind the felony conviction".

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS THAT THE PROPERTY CONVEYED AT THE AVENTURA CLOSING WAS TO REMAIN UNDER THE CONTROL OF RESPONDENT AND HER HUSBAND, MICHAEL ARIAS, AND THAT THE PROPERTY WOULD BE USED BY RESPONDENT AND HER HUSBAND AS THEIR PERSONAL RESIDENCE WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. (Restated)

The respondent argues that the referee wrongly found that the property which formed the basis for one of respondent's two felony convictions was to remain under the control of respondent and her husband. In fact, it is the respondent who executed a plea agreement which contained that representation and was introduced without objection by The Florida Bar. TR.10-13. The respondent's attorney at the conclusion of the plea colloquy based on the aforementioned plea specifically agreed to the recitation and acknowledged that any minor differences did <u>not</u> change the elements of the offense. TR. 100-101. Moreover, the government at no point agreed with the respondent's criminal defense attorney's distinction. Interestingly, there is not any indication that Ms. del Pino sought to withdraw or modify the plea agreement she now claims contains inaccurate information.

Thus, the referee's finding is in fact supported by competent substantial evidence, which included the respondent's admission as set forth in her plea

agreement and is not erroneous. It is respondent's burden to demonstrate that there is <u>no</u> evidence in the record to support the finding. <u>The Florida Bar v. Roberts</u>, 789 So.2d 284 (Fla. 2001). The respondent has failed to do that.

Beyond the foregoing, the point that the respondent raises is so minor, it is almost not deserving of mention. What is deserving of mention, however, is what the referee found concerning the respondent's guilty plea, as reflected below:

- 1. During a closing, respondent signed a warranty deed, not as a grantor but for the waiver of homestead purposes in favor of the <u>purported</u> purchaser, Liana Alvarez.
- 2. Respondent knew when she signed the deed that Liana Alvarez did not have the financial resources to buy the property.
- 3. That the property was to remain under the control of the respondent and her husband.
- 4. The respondent was <u>fully aware</u> that notwithstanding an occupancy affidavit signed by Liana Alvarez the property was not and would <u>never</u> be Liana Alvarez' primary residence.
- 5. Knowing that the closing documents contained the foregoing false representations and others, the respondent caused the document to be mailed which resulted in the issuance of a mortgage loan to Liana Alvarez.

(emphasis supplied)

Respondent claims that the referee incorrectly found that Ms. del Pino gained a personal benefit since she would be living in the residence. (Resp. Brief on Appeal, Page 21). That is not what the referee found. Rather, he concluded that Ms. del Pino's conduct had a dishonest or selfish motive as the transaction

assisted her husband to obtain proceeds in order to pay restitution in a criminal matter. The referee never mentions who would reside in the residence as a basis for a finding of this aggravator. A.1, Pg. 7. In fact, Ms. del Pino did testify that she was aware that the object of the transaction was to obtain funds for her husband's payment of \$825,000 in restitution. TR.18-19.

Respondent's argument will fail on another basis. In an attorney disciplinary proceeding, a referee may not "go behind" a conviction. The Florida

Bar v. Kandekore, 766 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 2000). This referee was correct in relying on the precise facts to which the respondent pled. To do otherwise, would be error.

POINT II

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT HAS A REASONABLE BASIS IN EXISTING CASE LAW AND SHOULD BE UPHELD. (Restated)

In reviewing a referee's recommended discipline, this Court's scope of review is more expansive than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because it is ultimately the Court's responsibility to order the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Heptner, 887 So.2d 1036, 1041 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 538 So.2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989); see also art. V, § 15, Fla. Const. Generally, the Court will not second-guess the referee's recommended discipline as long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Heptner, 887 So.2d at 1042; The Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So.2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1999).

The burden is on the attorney to overcome the presumption of disbarment that applies when the attorney is convicted of a felony. The Florida Bar v. Arnold, 767 So.2d 438 (Fla. 2000). Here, the respondent pled guilty and was convicted of two (2) separate and unrelated federal felonies, tax evasion and mail fraud. Thus, the presumption has become heftier. Respondent's argument that disbarment is "inappropriate" and "reserved for the most serious of offenses" does not apply given the existence of felony convictions. Rather, disbarment is appropriate given two (2) felony convictions and presumed. The referee specifically found that the

respondent failed to overcome the presumption of disbarment and relied on <u>The Florida Bar v. McKeever</u>, 766 So.2d 992,993 (Fla. 2000). A.1, Pg. 15

Respondent argues that the referee disregarded or minimized evidence of mitigation. The report belies that conclusion. The referee stated:

I further recommend that the disbarment be *nunc pro tunc* to the date of the automatic suspension given the mitigating factors discussed below.

A.1, Pg. 6

Thus, the referee gave considerable weight to the evidence of mitigation by recommending that any disbarment run from April 22, 2005, the date of the felony suspension, as opposed to the date this Court issues its final decision. That concession is considerable. At this point, the matter has not been fully briefed, as respondent will have an opportunity to file a reply brief and more than a year has passed from the date of the felony suspension bringing respondent a year closer to the potential of seeking readmission.

Furthermore, the referee did not give short shrift to the evidence of aggravation and mitigation presented as demonstrated by the in depth analysis set forth in the seventeen (17) page Report of Referee. A.1 In fact, the referee found that the egregious and multiple nature of the underlying felonious conduct by an experienced member of The Florida Bar, together with the aggravation presented

by The Florida Bar <u>outweighed</u> the evidence of mitigation and warranted disbarment.

The referee relied on The Florida Bar v. Forbes, 596 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1992) when recommending disbarment. There, that respondent made materially false statements to a bank to influence its actions in granting a loan. The Court acknowledged the existence of the mitigating factors of absence of a prior disciplinary record, full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board and remorse and agreed with the referee that the mitigating factors justified a retroactive disbarment to the date of the felony suspension. Based on the commission and plea to two (2) separate and distinct felonies this referee could have found Forbes, supra inapplicable. Instead, the referee was merciful and remains challenged in this proceeding.

Respondent's reliance on <u>The Florida Bar v. Chosid</u>, 500 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1987) to warrant a three (3) year suspension is misplaced. Respondent argues that she should not be treated more harshly than Chosid since both are tax evaders and Chosid had received a private reprimand. But this respondent should be treated more harshly given the commission of another unrelated felony two (2) years after the first one. Judge Ehrlich aptly stated the following in Chosid:

His motivation for the crime was pecuniary gain by understating his taxable income. In short, this was stealing from the government... A crime for pecuniary gain, theft by whatever

name, by a member of The Florida Bar, an officer of the Court, is to be roundly condemned and disbarment is the appropriate response from this Court.

Chosid, at 151.

Respondent urges this Court to rely on The Florida Bar v. Smith, 650 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1995) as a basis to impose a three (3) year suspension. The referee in Smith did not recommend disbarment. Rather, a two (2) year suspension to run *nunc pro tunc* from the date of the felony suspension was recommended. This Court enhanced the discipline and ordered a three (3) year suspension to be effective on the date of the opinion. In the case <u>sub judice</u> the referee recommended disbarment. That recommendation is presumed correct and will be followed so long as it is not "clearly off the mark". The Florida Bar v. Vining, 721 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1998).

In <u>Smith</u>, supra that respondent was in serious financial difficulty and underpaid his taxes. Ms. del Pino earned \$122,052 in 1998 and had a net worth of approximately \$250,000. The second charge in the <u>Smith</u>, supra matter concerned election documents said to be ordinarily administrative in nature. Neither of the felony charges pled to by Ms. del Pino were remotely minor or administrative. Respondent, however, seeks to minimize her own misconduct and does not appear to recognize its gravity when arguing that a two (2) year suspension is appropriate, as set forth below on Page 26 of respondent's brief on appeal.

Any lawyer who might be prone to give faulty estimates on their requests to the IRS for an extension of time to file their returns and who stand silent while their spouse improperly closes a real estate transaction will know that their conduct will result in harsh discipline by this Court.

Respondent's misconduct was far more egregious than "giving a faulty tax estimate". Respondent swore that she owed zero to the government in taxes, despite earning in excess of \$122,000 as a partner in Steel, Hector & Davis for that calendar year. Further, respondent did not merely stand silent during an "improper" real estate closing. Respondent participated in a fraud involving multiple misrepresentations to obtain a mortgage. Ms. del Pino's focus was to assist her husband in obtaining funds to pay restitution in yet another fraud. TR.

Further, in <u>Smith</u>, supra the referee found that although that respondent's acts were selfish, his motives were not. The Court distinguished the <u>Smith</u>, supra case from <u>The Florida Bar v. Nedick</u>, 603 So.2d 502 (Fla. 1992) since in <u>Nedick</u>, supra that attorney's only motive was pecuniary gain.

The referee in this matter gave substantial weight to the aggravating factor of a dishonest or selfish motive and found its existence as to each criminal charge. He stated that the tax evasion offense allowed the respondent to have more money in her pocket over an extended period of time. He further noted the inapplicability

of respondent's emotional or psychological problems to this offense when rejecting an "absence of a dishonest or selfish motive" as a mitigating factor. As to the mail fraud offense, the respondent's actions enabled her husband to unjustly enrich himself to pay off debts. It was part of the scheme to use loan proceeds and/or the property to pay restitution in his health care fraud criminal matter. Despite respondent's protestations regarding that marriage, the fact of the matter was that the respondent remained married and committed to Michael Arias. Notably, both of those felonies resulted in a financial benefit to the respondent.

Respondent also asks this Court to acknowledge that her performance as an attorney was outstanding. Taking respondent's argument to its logical conclusion is difficult. On the one hand, respondent seeks recognition and leniency since the testimony revealed that she was a "superlative" lawyer and was not a threat to her clients. Consequently, the abuse suffered by the respondent in her marriage and her depressed state did not affect her job performance and judgment as a lawyer. Respondent argues that it did, however, affect her judgment with regard to the commission of two (2) felonies which should result in a sanction reduction.

The application of a mitigating factor such as personal or emotional problems cannot be selective. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Shuminer</u>, 567 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990) that respondent misappropriated trust funds and claimed that his substance abuse addiction should mitigate the discipline. Shuminer presented the testimony

of two (2) judges who attested to his competence and diligence. This Court when disbarring Shuminer found that he continued to work effectively during the period in question. Thus, he failed to establish that his addictions rose to a sufficient level of impairment to outweigh the seriousness of his offenses. *See also* The Florida Bar v. Wolfe, 759 So.2d 639 (Fla. 2000). Here, the evidence revealed that the respondent was embroiled in a tumultuous, violent marriage from 1995 until the present. The respondent also admitted to abusing the narcotic Xanax from 1996 until 2001. The respondent committed her crimes in 1999 and in 2001. Despite the marital difficulties and drug abuse, the respondent did not falter in her professional life. TR. 52. If personal issues impacted on her day, she was responsible enough to stay after hours to complete all work. TR. 68. Ms. del Pino testified as follows:

MR. WEISS: Do you think any of your clients were adversely affected?

MS. DEL PINO: No, to the contrary. I always -- what I did to avoid all the problems that I was having at home was to focus on work to the exclusion of everything else. So that was my scapegoat.

In 2001, when Ms. del Pino committed the second criminal offense, she had voluntarily left Steel, Hector to open a new practice with one of their clients following her. TR. 27. Like, the respondent in Shuminer, Ms. del Pino continued to work effectively during the period in question.

Disbarment was the appropriate finding.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the referee's report should be approved.